1941

# Gust Papadopoulos v. Marion Defabrizio : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is a rather complicated case. The first step is to acquire a knowledge of the facts. In dealing with complicated facts, it is best to arrange the narrative of events in the order of date — a simple rule not always acted upon, but which enables us to unravel the most complicated story, and to see the relation of one set of facts to another set of facts. This method enables us to disregard irrelevant topics and to settle our minds on the turning points in the case. So we shall state this case in the order of dates. *W. I.*

March 15, 1935, plaintiff leased the Barney Canyon Ranch, containing seven sections of land in

S. L. County, from the Western Land Association and L. H. Gray, for a term of five years, ending December 31, 1939, and paid agreed rentals for the years 1935, 1936 and 1937, and used said premises for grazing, shearing and lambing of sheep during the months of April, May and June of each year up to and including the year 1940 — every year notwithstanding his lease expired on December 31, 1939. And plaintiff alleges that relation of landlord and tenant in his complaint, and annexed a copy of his lease as Exhibit A. *Dr. 2.*

April 6, 1938, defendant leased Section 31, a portion of said Barney Canyon Ranch, from the same landlords, the Western Land Association and L. H. Gray, for a term of six years, ending April 6, 1944, for dry land wheat farming, at an agreed rental of one-fourth of the crops raised thereon during said term, and in said lease provision is made to protect the other lessee, the plaintiff, until December 31, 1939. A copy of the lease is annexed to the answer and counter-claim. *Dr. 21*

May 4, 1938, both the plaintiff and the defendant were on said lands, under said leases, one lambing the sheep and the other clearing and plowing on Section 31, when Mr. Rushton, a neighbor, told them that their landlords had not paid the taxes on said lands. They voluntarily went to the courthouse. There was no eviction by any one at any time, *Dr. 91*

May 4, 1938, plaintiff and defendant went to the County Commissioners and exhibited their said leases and fully explained that they were so in possession of said lands (one lambing and the other clearing and plowing) and by mutual consent and agreement, and without the knowledge or consent of their said landlords, they agreed that plaintiff

would take six Sections, (1, 6, 12, 34, 35 and 36) and that defendant would take said Section 31, under agreements dated May 4, 1938, and for a consideration of \$1.00 as recited in such agreements, Exhibits No. 1 and H. 27. 172

It will be observed that both agreements are almost word for word the same, except in the plaintiff's agreement it is provided:

"The Second Party is hereby granted an option to purchase said property (six sections) on terms acceptable to First Party."

Both agreements recite: 27. 172

"The First Party agrees and hereby appoints the Second Party as agent for the First Party for the sole and only purpose of guarding, protecting and preserving the above described property from the 4th day of May, A. D. 1938, for a period of (13 months to plaintiff and 12 months to defendant) from date, unless terminated before that date; said termination to be in accordance with the provisions of the following paragraph:

"The First Party reserves the right to sell said land upon thirty days written notice to Second Party; said sale of land, however, to be made subject to this agreement."

May 27, 1938, L. H. Gray wrote to plaintiff:

"Pursuant to your call of May 24th I have taken opportunity to look into the Barney Ranch situation.

I was expecting to use your half year payment on the lease, of \$250.00, to redeem

the land on which the Lohman and Dorton Springs are situated, and find that the County does not give credit to me for anything you may pay to the County, and it leaves me without income with which to redeem any part of the leased land.

There was due from you under your lease \$250.00 and its diversion by you keeps me from meeting my tax obligations.

Your lease of March 15, 1935, provides for a payment of \$500.00 each year payable one-half at shearing time and the other half at sale of lambs in the fall.

The payment at shearing time of 1938 is due, owing and unpaid. I shall wait until June 1st, 1938.

(Signed) L. H. GRAY."

Ex. K, p. 172.

On December 30, 1938, said L. H. Gray and the Western Land Association (which is the same) paid such delinquent taxes and received a quit-claim deed from Salt Lake County, which deed was duly recorded on December 31, 1938, for the Southeast quarter of the Southwest quarter of Section 31, upon which land said Lohman Spring is located and recorded.

See Exhibit 1, p. 172 of Bill of Exceptions. That is the controlling undisputed fact in this case. And upon that fact, and upon that undisputed record, the whole case turns. After December 30, 1938, Salt Lake County had no right, title or interest in said land and water. After June 4, 1939, neither the plaintiff nor the defendant had any right of possession to said land and water under their

alleged leases of May 4, 1938, under and from Salt Lake County. From that time and at all times thereafter, both the plaintiff and the defendant had the right to use said land and water up to December 31, 1939, under their leases from L. H. Gray and the Western Land Association. Then the plaintiff's lease expired by its terms and the plaintiff became a trespasser. The defendant had, and still has until April 6, 1944, the sole right of possession and use of said land and water under his said lease of April 6, 1938, from and under said L. H. Gray and Western Land Association. And at all times since the said defendant has been, and now is, in the possession of said land and water under said lease, Exhibit No. 3, *Dr 172*

On June 14, 1939 — ten days after his alleged lease from Salt Lake County of May 4, 1938, aforesaid, had expired, yet while plaintiff held his said lease of March 15, 1935 from said L. H. Gray and Western Land Association, aforesaid, and five and one-half months after such redemption and recording of said deed, and with actual as well as constructive notice thereof, the plaintiff pretended to secure another so-called lease from Salt Lake County on all of the said lands in Barnev Canyon (described in his aforesaid lease from L. H. Gray and W. L. A. aforesaid) and wrongfully included all of said lands in Section 31 then in the possession of the defendant under his lease of April 6, 1938, aforesaid. That is the alleged lease annexed to the complaint as Ex. B., *Dr 172*

It must be remembered that during all of said times the defendant was in possession. He plowed and planted in 1938 to be harvested in 1939 according to said Gray lease, and that plaintiff had the

use of part of Section 31 and said water for grazing, lambing and shearing of sheep up to June 10, 1940, when he moved away all of his sheep. (Tr. 172).

On June 21, 1940, the plaintiff secured a pretended extension of said pretended lease of June 14, 1940, to June 15, 1941. That is the subject-matter of this action. (Tr. 1)

On December 6, 1940, said L. H. Gray and Western Land Association paid about \$2200.00 delinquent taxes on said lands and thereby redeemed all of said lands and secured a quitclaim deed from Salt Lake County. Said Deed was duly recorded on December 14, 1940. See Exhibit D, Tr. 172.

On January 8, 1941, plaintiff commenced this action against Defa — not against L. H. Gray — and alleged all of the said leases and agreements in his complaint. *And thereby plaintiff plead himself out of court.* (Tr. 1)

The defendant demurred to said complaint for uncertainty and for want of facts. The demurrer was overruled, and the defendant was required to answer and counter-claim. The defendant and appellant here assigns said adverse ruling as prejudicial and reversible error.

104-2-14, Rev. Stat. Utah, 1933, and  
98 Utah, 217.

The plaintiff did not reply to said answer and counter-claim, so the facts therein are deemed admitted. (Tr 51)

104-11-2 and 104-13-11, Rev. Stat. Utah,  
1933.

This brings the facts before the Court on the said pleadings. (Tr. 1 to 50 inclusive).

## COMPLAINT

The plaintiff complains of the defendant and alleges as follows: *Dram 1.*

## 1.

The plaintiff and defendant are and during all times mentioned in this complaint were residents of Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

## 2.

On March 15, 1935, one L. H. Gray leased to plaintiff the following described property, situate in Salt Lake County, State of Utah:

The Barney Canyon Ranch in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, containing approximately seven sections of land;

which lease was for a period of five years beginning on January 1, 1935, a copy of which lease is marked Exhibit A, is attached hereto, and is by this reference made a part of this complaint. Pursuant to said lease, the plaintiff took possession of the said property and all thereof on January 1, 1935, and paid rent pursuant to said lease for the years 1935, 1936, and 1937.

## 3.

The land generally described in Paragraph 2 and more particularly described hereinafter is useful to plaintiff for the grazing, shearing, and lambing of sheep and is valuable for such uses, particularly during the months of April, May, and June of each year, plaintiff being the owner of approximately 2,000 head of sheep.

## 4.

On or about April 24, 1938, plaintiff sought to make use of said land pursuant to the said lease by tak-

ing possession of the property for purposes of shearing, lambing and grazing his sheep, but was prevented from so doing by defendant claiming to be a tenant of Salt Lake County. Salt Lake County at said time and thereafter claimed all of the property generally described in Paragraph 2 and more particularly described hereafter by virtue of a tax deed issued by the auditor of Salt Lake County and duly recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County.

### 5.

Plaintiff for a valuable consideration leased from Salt Lake County on or about May 4, 1938, for a period to and including June 4, 1939, the following described property in Salt Lake County, to-wit: (Description by metes and bounds).

Which constitutes a portion of the property described generally in Paragraph 2 hereof. Under this lease agreement plaintiff had the right to possession, use and peaceful enjoyment of all of the said property for the entire term of said lease from May 4, 1938, to and including June 4, 1939, for the purposes of lambing, shearing and grazing his sheep.

### 6.

On June 14, 1939, plaintiff entered into a lease agreement with Salt Lake County for a period of 13 months from May 4, 1939, covering all of the property described in Paragraph 5 which lease is attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, and by this reference made a part hereof. This lease marked Exhibit B was renewed and extended by act of the Salt Lake County Commission on June 21, 1940, which extended the period of the lease from June 14, 1940, to June 15, 1941, for a valuable consideration paid by plaintiff to Salt Lake County. Pur-

suant to these lease agreements, plaintiff has and had a right to exclusive use, possession and enjoyment for the purposes stated in said Exhibit B for the period from May 4, 1939, to and including June 15, 1941, of all of the property described in said Exhibit B. The act of the Salt Lake County Commission of June 21, 1940, also approved the lease of a portion of the above described property, to-wit: 100 acres then under cultivation, for the additional period to and including July 30, 1941.

## 7.

Plaintiff entered into possession, use and enjoyment of the above described property pursuant to the above described leases from Salt Lake County on or about May 4, 1938, and has ever since remained in possession, use and enjoyment of said property except as hereinafter alleged although using the said property more particularly in the months of April, May and June of each year, beginning with the year 1938.

## 8.

On or about April 25, 1940, plaintiff drove his 2,000 head of sheep on said property for the purpose of grazing, shearing and lambing said sheep, and plaintiff kept the said sheep on said property until on or about June 7, 1940, when plaintiff left with one-half of said sheep and their lambs, the remainder of the sheep being kept on said property until on or about June 15, 1940, when plaintiff took them away.

## 9.

During the period from on or about May 20, 1940, to on or about June 15, 1940, plaintiff was prevented by acts of the defendant and his agents from enjoying the use and possession of a portion of said

property, which acts of defendant and his agent are more particularly alleged as follows, to-wit:

(a) From on or about May 20, 1940, to and including June 1, 1940, defendant plowed a portion of the above described property, being more particularly a portion in that part of Section 31 which was covered by the lease agreement, marked Exhibit B, by reason of said plowing destroying the use of the property for grazing, or for shearing of plaintiff's sheep thereby causing damage to plaintiff and doing irreparable damage to plaintiff by virtue of preventing the use by plaintiff of property rightfully leased to him.

(b) On and after June 15, 1940, defendant or his agents plowed additional portions of the land lying in said Section 31, plowing in all approximately 160 acres of land in said Section 31, rendering said property by virtue of the destruction of feed and ouster of possession of little value for the purposes of grazing, shearing and lambing plaintiff's sheep and rendering all of the property described in Paragraph 5 of little value, the 160 acres which was plowed being the most valuable grazing land of all of the said tracts, without the use of which the property under lease could not and cannot support plaintiff's sheep during lambing and shearing time.

(c) Between June 15, 1940, and August 20, 1940, defendant planted all the plowed ground in the said 160 or more acres which was planted into a crop believed to be

grain which crop is now growing upon the said property which crop renders the land useful for purposes of grazing.

## 10.

Defendant threatens to interfere with plaintiff's use for shearing, grazing and lambing of sheep of the property described in Paragraph 9 for the months of April, May and June, 1941, by preventing plaintiff from entering upon this portion of the property leased to plaintiff and will prevent plaintiff's use of said leased property unless enjoined by this Honorable Court from so doing and unless the defendant is so enjoined plaintiff will suffer irreparable injuries by being prevented from using property to the use, enjoyment and possession of which he is entitled by virtue of the above mentioned leases and by damage to the plaintiff's sheep and lambs.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays judgment against the defendant:

## 1.

For damages suffered by plaintiff through plowing of land in May and June, 1940, as alleged in Paragraph 9 in the amount of \$100.00 for loss of grazing and \$250.00 for damage to sheep and loss of lambs.

## 2.

For an injunction preventing defendant from interfering with plaintiff's use of his leased property and the whole thereof during April, May and June of 1941, by grazing the whole thereof and

using any or all portions thereof for lambing and shearing ground.

3.

For such other and further relief as plaintiff may be entitled to.

4.

For plaintiff's costs in this proceeding and for attorney's fees.

MOYLE, RICHARDS & McKAY,  
AND RICHARD L. BIRD, JR.,  
Attorneys for Plaintiff.

---

## DEMURRER

Now comes the defendant and demurs to the complaint upon the following grounds: *2v. 14*

1.

That paragraph 2 of the complaint is indefinite and uncertain, and it cannot be ascertained from said complaint what is the meaning of such paragraph 2 because the Exhibit A therein mentioned is not annexed to and made a part of the said complaint as therein stated. That is, no copy of the alleged lease is annexed, and the terms thereof are not pleaded.

2.

That said complaint is indefinite and uncertain, and especially paragraph 6, because the alleged Exhibit B is not annexed or filed with the complaint, and the substance thereof is not pleaded.

3.

That said complaint does not state facts sufficient

to constitute a cause of action against this defendant.

WHEREFORE defendant prays that said complaint be dismissed and for costs.

MARION DEFA,  
Defendant.

C. E. NORTON,  
Attorney for Defendant.

---

### ORDER OVERRULING DEMURRER

The court orders the general demurrer overruled and the special demurrer sustained. The plaintiff is granted permission to amend the complaint by inserting Exhibits A and B. Defendant is granted 10 days within which to answer. (Tr. 15).

---

### ASSIGNED ERROR NUMBER I.

The trial court erred in overruling the Demurrer to the Complaint. Bill of Exceptions, page 51. A careful reading of the foregoing complaint shows the demurrer is well taken. There is reversible error without further argument. The complaint must be dismissed, and the judgment of the trial court should be reversed.

The plaintiff is precluded and estopped by  
104-2-14, Rev. Stat. of Utah, 1933,  
and by the case of

Woodbury v. Steele & Bunker, 98 Utah 217,  
upon the theory of this case stated and admitted  
on the first page of this brief.

## ARGUMENT

And right here is the most important fact, shown by said pleading and by all of the evidence: the plaintiff did not surrender possession of the premises to his landlord, and he was not evicted by paramount title or otherwise, or at all. When plaintiff and defendant discovered that their landlord was behind in payment of the taxes on said land, they volunteered and paid one dollar and protected their landlord's title. Neither of them then claimed adversely to their landlord, L. H. Gray. And their said landlords did not evict them, or either of them. No damage is claimed by plaintiff for any period before May 20, 1940, when defendant commenced to plow and plant the crop of wheat to be harvested in the summer of 1941.

It is true that the plaintiff did not pay the rent for the years 1938 and 1939 amounting to \$1,000.00, and that L. H. Gray was depending upon said rentals to pay said delinquent taxes as shown by Exhibit G. Notwithstanding, on December 30, 1938, said L. H. Gray did redeem and secure a quitclaim deed from Salt Lake County to the SE $\frac{1}{4}$  of SW $\frac{1}{4}$  of Section 31, where the Lohman Water Spring is situated, so as to fully protect all parties concerned, and that at all times the plaintiff used said land and water as provided in said lease, until December 31, 1939.

Nevertheless, on June 14, 1939, (while still in possession of all of said land and water under said L. H. Gray, and after said L. H. Gray had redeemed said land and water, and the County had no title whatever thereto) the plaintiff attempted to secure a pretended lease from Salt Lake County which is the subject-matter of this action, and as alleged in the complaint. This is the alleged adverse title

under which plaintiff seeks to evict the defendant. Salt Lake County had no title to said SE $\frac{1}{4}$  of SW $\frac{1}{4}$  of Section 31 — it had quitclaimed to Western Land Association on December 30, 1938. See Exhibit No. 1.

---

## ANSWER

Now comes the defendant and answers the complaint, and admits, denies and alleges, as follows:

*Fr. 20*

### 1.

Admits that both plaintiff and defendant are now residents of Salt Lake County, State of Utah; and admits that this defendant has a lease upon the premises described in the complaint, and that he planted, and has planted, part of said lands, in grains, and that a crop of grain is now growing on 85 acres of said lands as hereinafter alleged.

### 2.

Denies each and every other allegation in said complaint alleged, and the whole thereof.

### 3.

Alleges that on the 6th day of April, 1938, at Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the owners of said lands, L. H. Gray-Western Land Association, a corporation, leased and let unto this defendant, approximately 300 acres of land situated in Sections 31 and 32, (the Bingham & Garfield Railroad forming the East Boundary of said tract) in Township 2 South, Range 2 West, in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, for a term of six years; with an agreement to clear, plow and plant as much acreage as he can, planting in the fall of 1938, and to clear and plow more land in the spring of 1939 and plant in the fall, and to clear and plow more land in the

spring of 1940 and plant in the fall to wheat, and to pay a rental of one-fourth of such crops.

## 4.

Defendant further alleges that under the terms of said lease this defendant went into possession of said premises described in said lease, a copy of which lease is hereunto annexed and made a part hereof, on said April 6th, 1938, and ever since said day this defendant has been, and now is, in the sole and exclusive possession of said premises; and that during all of said times this defendant has performed and kept all of the covenants and conditions of said lease agreement; and that under the terms of said lease this defendant has expended more than ten dollars per acre in clearing and plowing said lands described in said lease and in so improving said lands, and otherwise kept and improved said lands under said lease. That said lease agreement is in words and figures as follows:

**“DRY FARM OR WHEAT RAISING  
LEASE**

The agreement of lease is entered into at Salt Lake City, Utah, this 6th day of April, 1938 by and between L. H. Gray (agent for Western Land Association) the first party, Lessor, and Marion Defa, the second party, Lessee, WITNESSETH:

**FIRST** party leases to **SECOND** party for dry farm wheat raising the following land in consideration of the clearing, plowing and planting thereof and a share of the crop;

Approximately 300 acres of land situated in Sections 31 and 32, the Bingham & Garfield R. R. forming the East

Boundary of the tract, all in Township  
2 South, Range 2 West.

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