1941

Gust Papadopoulos v. Marion Defabrizio : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ground of the plaintiff. That said ground was in the immediate proximity of water for ewes that were lambing and enabled ewes to reach the water with their lambs. That by reason of said plowing of said portions of said section, the use of said property for grazing and lambing of plaintiff's sheep and for the watering of plaintiff's sheep during lambing was destroyed so that plaintiff was compelled to lamb his flocks upon undesirable land remote from said watering hole thereby causing the loss of approximately fifty lambs, to plaintiff's damage and preventing the use of said property heretofore required for grazing purposes by the plaintiff."

It is true that the finding is more explicit than the complaint as to the manner in which defendant's trespass damaged plaintiff in reference to use of the land for purposes of lambing. The complaint alleged in paragraph 3 that the land described "is useful to plaintiff for the grazing, shearing and lambing of sheep," and in paragraph 8 that "on or about April 25, 1940, plaintiff drove his 2,000 head of sheep on said property for the purpose of grazing, shearing and lambing said sheep." An in paragraph 9 (a) that defendant's plowing of the land destroyed "the use of the property for grazing or for shearing of plaintiff's sheep thereby causing damage to plaintiff;" and in paragraph 9 (b) that defendant's plowing rendered

"said property by virtue of the destruction of feed and the ouster of possession of little value for the purposes of grazing, shearing and lambing plaintiff's sheep and rendering all of the property described in paragraph 6 of little value, the 300 acres which

was plowed being the most valuable grazing land of all of the said tracts, without the use of which the property under lease could not and cannot support plaintiff's sheep during lambing and shearing time;''

and in the prayer the plaintiff indicates the specific relief desired and the kind of case the plaintiff supposes he has made by the use of the following words:

“ . . . plaintiff prays judgment . . . for damages suffered . . . through plowing of land . . . for loss of grazing . . . and for damage to sheep and loss of lambs.”

See Bancroft's Code Pleading, Section 12.

It plainly appears that plaintiff has alleged damage for the loss of the use of the alleged property for grazing, and special damage to sheep and loss of lambs, which is an incident of the loss of grazing.

But if it be assumed that the damage was not specially pleaded, the judgment is still supportable. A valuable precedent on this question is

Anderson, et al. v. Jensen, et al., 71 Utah
295; 265 Pac. 745.

This was also a case involving trespass to land which was valuable for grazing and lambing sheep, but the trespass in that case was by sheep rather than by plowing the land. It appears that plaintiff owned land along the bottom near a creek which was sheltered and therefore valuable for lambing ground, whereas the defendant's property was higher up and not so valuable for lambing. Defendant permitted his sheep to graze a portion of the lambing ground, using it also for the purpose of lambing, thereby keeping plaintiff's sheep off because of the danger of getting the lambs of the two parties mixed up. The complaint sought damages for loss of use of the land both for grazing

and for lambing and also sought an injunction against continued trespass. The evidence showed that the land was valuable for grazing and that it had a separate value as lambing ground. The Court referred to this as follows:

“The evidence tends to show that plaintiffs’ land along Sheep Creek is especially desirable for lambing sheep because it is warm, comparatively level, and protected from the spring winds and storms. It is also made to appear that it is a distinct advantage to have sheep, while lambing, near water because if the ewes are compelled to travel any considerable distance to secure water there is danger of the young lambs being lost from their mothers.”

Defendant took the position that plaintiff’s damage could be measured only by the value of the forage eaten and destroyed by defendant’s sheep and also contended “that proof affecting any enhanced rental value of the land in question because of its adaptability for lambing sheep is in the nature of special damages and must be specially pleaded to admit proof thereof.” In rejecting this contention of defendant, the Court made the following holding:

“In determining such reasonable rental value, the fact that the land may be valuable for lambing purposes is as proper a matter of inquiry as is the fact that the land may be valuable for grazing purposes. The ultimate fact to be determined is the reasonable rental value of the land, and any fact which aids in determining such ultimate fact is proper evidence under the

general issue of damages and need not be specially pleaded.”

It thus appears that the value of the land for lambing was separate and apart from the value of the land for grazing and that this separate value was not an element of special damage which required specific pleading.

A somewhat similar case is

Drinkhouse v. Van Ness, 202 Cal. 359; 260 Pac. 869,

which was an action in replevin for a race horse, the plaintiff claiming \$10,000.00 damage for the value at the time of taking and \$10,000.00 damage for loss of use during the detention. Over defendant's strenuous objection evidence was received as to the value of the horse as a racing pony and also as to its value for breeding purposes both because of the races it had won and the races its colts had won; and evidence was further received over objection as to the horse's earnings as a stud horse during the period of detention. The defendant objected that plaintiff was attempting to prove special damages under an allegation of general damage and on appeal objected to the finding of these special damages as not supported by the issues of the complaint. The Court held, however, that the value of the horse at the time of the taking included its value for all purposes and that it was therefore proper to show its value for breeding purposes as a stud horse.

There is no showing here that the appellant was surprised, misled or prejudiced by the introduction of proof as to loss of lambs. In

Moyle v. McKean, 49 Utah 93, at Page 99;
162 Pac. 63,

where a similar ground for reversal was urged upon the Court, the Court said:

“It is also insisted that a certain finding ‘is not within the allegations of the complaint.’ While it is true that there are no allegations in the complaint in the precise form of the finding, yet the finding is fairly within the purview of the allegations of the complaint and is responsive thereto. That assignment must therefore also fail.”

Here the prayer of the complaint plainly advised the defendant of the nature of the case plaintiff was attempting to make. The prayer asked for “\$175.00 for loss of grazing and \$250.00 for damage to sheep and loss of lambs.” It is held in

McPheeters v. McMahon, 131 Cal. App. 418;
21 Pac. (2d) 606,

that in determining whether reversible error was committed in the introduction of evidence outside the pleadings the prayer may be consulted to determine the nature of the case which plaintiff intended to make. And in

Neel v. Ramelli, 138 Cal. App. 366; 32 Pac.
(2d) 177,

evidence was introduced on a question of adverse possession upon which findings of fact were made although not pleaded in the complaint. In upholding the lower court’s judgment the Court of Appeals suggested that the general allegations of the complaint were sufficient to raise the issue and went on to say:

“but, if not, the appellant was not prejudiced because he was fully apprised of

the issues to be tried and was given ample opportunity to present his defense.”

And it likewise appears here that defendant was fully advised of the issues of the case and of a claimed element of damage for loss of land. An argument that a technical defect existed in a complaint should not be favored by this Court since it is not in the interest of justice and is an encouragement to obstructive tactics in litigation.

R. S. U. 1933, 104-13-1; 104-14-1.

But assuming for the sake of argument only that the finding referred to was not within the issues of the complaint, the finding is still supportable in this Court. The plaintiff testified as to the loss of lambs because of defendant's trespass (Tr. 83-85). Defendant made no objection to this testimony except to the testimony as to the price for which lambs were sold, and as to this his only objection was, “I object to that unless you fix the time.” And to Steve Martinez' testimony as to loss of lambs at Page 105 of the transcript no objection whatever was interposed.

It is well established that where no objection is made to the introduction of evidence which is outside the specific issues of the pleadings, the court may make findings on such issues, which findings will be upheld by the Appellate Court.

Stephens v. Doxey, 62 Utah 241; 218 Pac. 965.

Salt Lake Investment Co. v. Fox, 37 Utah 334, 338; 108 Pac. 1132.

Houtz v. Union Pacific, 33 Utah 175, 195; 93 Pac. 439; 17 L.R.A. (N.S.) 628.

Kaiser v. Kaiser, 106 Cal. App. 663; 289 Pac. 875, 876.

Crescent Lumber Co. v. Larson, 166 Cal. 168; 135 Pac. 502.

Smith v. Golden State Syndicate, 43 Cal. App. 346; 185 Pac. 209, 210.

Starkweather v. Eddy, 87 Cal. App. 92; 261 Pac. 763.

McDougal v. Hulet, 132 Cal. 154; 64 Pac. 278.

Conlon v. Northern Life Ins. Co., 108 Mont. 473; 92 Pac. (2d) 284.

Hansen v. Standard Oil Co. of California, 55 Idaho 483; 44 Pac. (2d) 709, 714.

North Electric Mfg. Co. v. Shelley, 32 Ohio App. 379; 168 N. E. 216.

Shelley v. Board of Trade, 87 Cal. App. 344; 262 Pac. 403.

In *Stephens v. Doxey*, *supra*, the appellant complained that a finding covered a different strip of ground than that alleged. The Court said at Page 249 of 62 Utah:

“This is assigned as error on the ground that the change was not pleaded, and, therefore, not made an issue. It is not claimed the finding is without evidence to support it, or that such evidence was objected to by defendant. The assignment is without merit.”

In *Kaiser v. Kaiser*, *supra*, which was an action for accounting on a farm leased by defendant to the plaintiff the defendant appealed partly on the ground that some findings were made on matters not pleaded. As to this, the California Court said:

“Appellant contends that there is a fatal variance between the allegations of the complaint and the evidence, and that some of the findings based on that evidence are

outside the issues. Such evidence, however, was admitted without objection, and the defendant introduced evidence bearing upon all the ultimate facts found by the court. It may fairly be stated, therefore, that the case was tried on the theory that such facts were in issue, and neither party was misled to his prejudice.”

In *Crescent Lumber Co v. Larson*, *supra*, the Court quoted the general rule that a finding entirely outside of the issues must be disregarded and then noted the following exception to this rule:

“The rule just stated is subject to the qualification that a finding may be considered where the issue though not formally raised by the pleadings, was tried in the court below without objection. *Ill. T. & S. Bank v. Pac. Ry. Co.*, 115 Cal. 285, 47 Pac. 60; *Sprigg v. Barber*, 122 Cal. 573, 55 Pac. 419.”

And in *Starkweather v. Eddy*, *supra*, at Page 765 of 261 Pacific, the Court said:

“It has been frequently held that, where a cause is tried upon the theory that certain facts are in issue, after judgment the cause will be considered as though such issues were correctly tendered by the pleading.”

The test of prejudicial error should be whether the party complaining was misled or prejudiced. As said in

Mankin v. Southwestern Automobile Insurance Company, 113 Cal. App. 243; 298 Pac. 42 at 43:

“Strictly speaking, the complaint should have alleged such waiver before the evidence

was received, or should have been amended to conform with the proof. It seems very clear, however, that the irregularity of procedure in failing to make such amendment to the complaint has not resulted in any miscarriage of justice.”

And in

Dudley v. Peterson, 42 Arizona 282; 25 Pac. (2d) 276 at 278,

the Court held that although pleadings should have been amended to conform to the evidence at the time evidence was introduced, it was not reversible error and the case would not be remanded where it was plain that the pleading would be amended and the same evidence would be offered on a new trial. Appellant may remonstrate that he made some objection to introduction of this evidence, even though not the right objection or at the right time. (See Tr. 85). This argument is definitely rejected by

Geanakoules v. Union Portland Cement Company, 41 Utah 486, at Page 489; 126 Pac. 329.

APPELLANT'S POINTS

ALLEGATIONS OF ANSWER ADMITTED BY FAILURE TO REPLY.

Appellant raises one or two questions which have not been answered. At pages 8 and 21 of his brief appellant suggests that the allegations of the answer were admitted by our failure to reply, citing R. S. U. 104-11-2 and 104-13-11. These statutes, applied to the pleadings, are sufficient answer to appellant. The answer was not a counterclaim because it asked for nothing. It alleged leases to the

appellant from L. H. Gray and from Salt Lake County (Tr. 20, 27), which were but a denial, in effect, of the complaint. No reply to this was required because the answer merely controverts the complaint and the only reply that would have been made on the facts is a reiteration of the complaint (See Bancroft, Code Pleading, Sec. 2192 and the case there cited,

Tate v. Rose, 35 Utah 229; 99 Pac. 1003).

Furthermore, the failure to reply, if necessary, was waived by appellant's going to trial on the merits.

Allen v. Schultz, (Wash.), 181 Pac. 916, 918; 6 A.L.R. 676.

Hardin's Committee v. Shelman, 245 Ky. 508; 53 S. W. (2d) 923.

Von Eime v. Fuchs, 320 Mo. 746; 8 S. W. (2d) 824.

Cochran v. Cochran, 133 Wash. 415; 233 Pac. 918.

Jenkins v. Spedden, 136 Md. 637; 111 At. 136.

FAILURE TO MAKE FINDINGS ON MATERIAL FACTS RAISED BY APPELLANT.

Appellant's brief complains of the court's failure to make findings on the lease from L. H. Gray to appellant (p. 21); and on possession of Section 31 (p. 25); also of finding No. IV said to be "not supported by any evidence whatever. It is contrary to the undisputed and record evidence." (Br. 27).

It was unnecessary to make a finding as to Exhibit 3. Finding No. IV (Tr. 30) finds that Salt Lake County on and after April 24, 1938, was the owner of Section 31. That obviates a finding as to Ex-

hibit 3 which is of necessity made abortive by the finding.

As to the finding on possession, finding No. V definitely states that defendant went into lawful possession of Section 31 on or about May 4, 1938, for one year, during which time respondent was out of possession. Finding No. VIII is supported by evidence, despite appellant's statement (Br. 25). The evidence establishes that respondent was in possession in 1939, placed extra men to protect the wheat, and permitted appellant to harvest his crop without molestation (Tr. 73, 75, 112, 113, 115, 158). Appellant complains generally, but points out nothing which supports his complaining.

Appellant attacks finding No. IV as above quoted. The finding itself states the facts upon which it is based (See Exhibits A, B, C).

RIGHT TO HARVEST CROP

At pages 33 and 35 of his brief appellant states a rule that an agricultural tenant holds land for an additional year unless given notice to quit within sixty days after his term expires. R. S. U. 104-60-4. Appellant's term expired May 4, 1939 (Exhibit 1, Finding V, Tr. 30). Respondent, successor to the landlord's estate, advised appellant of termination of appellant's lease by his presence on the land and by word of mouth in May of 1939 (Tr. 73, 75, 158; Finding VIII).

Even if it be assumed that appellant's term was extended for a year to May 4, 1940, he cannot claim for the additional year to May 4, 1941, because he was out of possession (one of the statutory re-

quirements) and he was again notified to quit (Tr. 78, 83, 113; Exhibit I). Appellant was therefore a trespasser when the wheat was planted in July or August, 1940 (Tr. 79, 114), and had no claim on the crop.

Mehl v. Norton (Minn.), 275 N. W. 843; 113 A.L.R. 1055.

Annotations at 39 A.L.R. 958; 57 A.L.R. 584; 113 A.L.R. 1059; 95 A.L.R. 1127; 18 Am. Jur. 220-224.

CONCLUSION

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